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	       CONCURRING OPINION TO

        FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200214246

        AWCB Decision No.  03- 0053 

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on March  6 , 2003 (Nunc Pro Tunc)


CONCURRING OPINION
In concurring with my colleague on this decision, I find certain aspects of the case before us to be quite troubling.   As the employer’s representative knows, and maybe the unrepresented employee to an equal or lesser extent, as an adjudicatory body, we follow precedent set by the appellate courts. Superior and Supreme Court decisions offered through the appellate process that define how we are to apply a statute or regulation or provide a legal “roadmap” for us to follow in our deliberative process.  It is the latter that troubles me with respect to this case.


As the Decision and Order is ultimately read and reviewed by both parties to this case, I am confident it will be clear to both parties regarding the legal process we were bound to follow in reaching our conclusions.  While much of the process has been defined for us by higher court decisions, in this instant case, because of the “roadmap” we follow, I am troubled with our conclusions.  Here, I feel my concerns cannot be satisfactorily resolved in my mind due to the constraints placed on this Board by the courts regarding the legal processes that are to be followed.


I do not seek to find nor do I lay blame on the law as we applied it.  I believe it is a practical and practicable law for the overwhelming majority of cases that may come before us.  Yet I must present this opinion because I believe this is the rare case where there is a distinct possibility, with a significant degree of certainty on my part, that the employee will receive benefits because of the process we had to follow and not because he in fact presented a compelling case that concluded he was due those benefits.  This is a source of frustration since our Board review process, in its simplest terms, is to attempt to weigh evidence, including credibility of testimony, and reach a proper conclusion.


There was a three-step sequential process my colleague and I were required to follow during our deliberations.  This is detailed in the Decision and Order for reference.  Had I been able to weigh credibility of the employee’s testimony before reaching the third step of the process, it is likely my decision for awarding benefits would have been altogether different.  I was troubled throughout the entire hearing with credibility issues involving the employee and his testimony.  I also had reservations about his case-in-chief because it was wrapped in a cloak of personal vendettas against the employer that had no relevance to his case other than to send a “smoke screen” to the Board to cloud our thinking.  In fact, since the employee was unrepresented the Board allowed him more latitude to present his case which is consistent with our past Board practices.  This included even allowing more hearing time than he originally agreed was necessary.  From my viewpoint, he chose to use that latitude granted by the Board to use less than socially acceptable or professional demeanor in his presentation.  I applaud the employer’s counsel for showing restraint throughout the long hearing, which went well into the early evening.  


In this instant case, had the employer presented evidence, which would have allowed us to find substantial evidence, I am reasonably confident this Board panel would have reached the third step of the legal process and the resulting Decision and Order would have been different and benefits would not have been rewarded.  The employer claimed the injury was preexisting but did not present any testimony by a physician that would support its defense of the claim.  I believe it would be incorrect for the Board, and to a great extent bad public policy, for my colleague and I to find, in a case such as this, that the employer can overcome the presumption by nothing more than the evidence presented in this case.  Having stated this, I cannot help but to find that, from time to time, the appropriate legal result of our decisions could likely be inconsistent with all practical indicators of the real truth.  This simply says to me that our workers compensation laws are not perfect and will never be so.  In my opinion, these imperfections in the legal process are revealed in cases such as this.  I conclude that the employee’s credibility throughout the hearing was lacking to a great degree.  Unfortunately I never could get to the third step of the process to allow me to weigh that.  


In a layperson’s terms, I sometimes hear the phrase in a social setting that a person may have won a legal case based on a technicality.  This is particularly true in highly visible criminal trials at times.  To compare a “win on a technicality” in a criminal trial to a disputed workers compensation case and public hearing is inappropriate when comparing the gravity of the “stakes” on both parties.  On the other hand, I believe the analogy is on point with respect to the technical constraints this Board panel had on this case.  Sometimes I believe the public views the Board as being impersonal and uncaring in some of the decisions we publish.  However, I have signed my name to this Decision and Order with a very personal feeling that the awarded benefits to the employee are based on a technicality that I could not overcome because of precedent it would have set for future Board decisions.  The awarding of benefits to the employee may be perceived as a win for him and a loss for the employer.  I see it as a rare instant in time where weaknesses in our workers compensation law and process were exposed.  These weaknesses could not have been avoided by this panel and at the same time still maintain the integrity of the processes that truly benefit the vast majority of the employees and employers that present cases for our review. 

NUNC PRO TUNC   

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 6th day of March, 2003.
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	        FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200214246
        AWCB Decision No.  03- 0053 

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on March  6, 2003



We heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability (TTD) benefits, medical benefits, transportation expense, penalty and interest, and unfair or frivolous controversion on December 18, 2002, at Anchorage, Alaska.  The employee represented himself (employee).  Attorney Timothy McKeever represented the employer and insurer (employer). The record remained open for the employee to review, and if necessary, correct his deposition.  Additionally, the parties filed their respective timeline of events and the Managers’’ Logbook.  The parties’ closing briefs were filed on January 30, 2003.  We closed the record when we next convened on February 4, 2002. The Board adjudicated this matter as a two-member panel, which constitutes a quorum.  AS 23.30.005(f).

ISSUES

1. Did the employee suffer a compensable injury while in the employ of the employer?

2. Is the employee’s claim time barred under AS 23.30.100?

3. Did the employer frivolously and unfairly controvert the employee’s claim?

4. Is the employee entitled to TTD benefits?

5. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits and transportation benefits?

6. Is the employee entitled to an award of penalties and interest on unpaid benefits under AS 23.30.155?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

1. Overview of the Claim and Controversion.

Although addressed in greater detail below, the employee claims he fell 4 different times at work.  The first fall occurred the last Saturday in May, (Evening May 25/Morning May 26, 2002).   It is undisputed that the employee did not inform his employer that this fall occurred while leaving work.  The employee returned to work the following Tuesday, May 28, 2002, wearing a knee brace and using crutches.  The employee alleges he fell three more times in the workplace: the afternoon of June 1, 2002; early in the afternoon on June 7, 2002; and the night of June 15 (might have been June 16), 2002.  Only the fall of June 15/16 was witnessed.  


The employee was scheduled for knee surgery on June 28, 2002.  However, at the surgeon’s request, it was postponed until July 5, 2002.  The employee was terminated from his position with the employer the morning of July 2, 2002.  That same morning, after he was terminated, the employee filled out a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI) while in the Workers’ Compensation office.  However, he did not sign and file the ROI until after his surgery on July 8, 2002. On August 23, 2002 the employee filed a Workers’ Compensation claim dated August 20, 2002 seeking all benefits related to his right knee injury.  


The employee alleges that he suffered a compensable injury when, “on 3 separate occasions I slipped and fell at work due to wet floor conditions.  Subsequent damage as a result of falls resulted in surgery to repair knee . . . .” (7/8/02 Report of Occupational Injury of Illness (ROI)).  The claim was served on the employer on September 23, 2002.  The employer doubted the validity of the employee’s injury because the employer believed the injury to be preexisting and not related to work.  Id.  


The employer controverted all benefits relying upon statements from the employee’s co-workers which state the employee attributed his right knee problems to prior injuries from playing football. (8/18/02 Controversion Notice).  In support of its controversion, the employer provided two written statements.  One statement is from Jason Kimmel, General Manager of Chili’s and an owner.
   Mr. Kimmel’s unsworn statement is dated August 14, 2002 and provides:  

Pete Burns first made David Duke, John DeHaven, and I aware of his knee injury during his interview process.  He stated to us that he had played high school and college football, and that he had to quit because of knee (and other) injuries.  I first became visually aware of Pete Burns’ prior injuries to his Knee(s) within the first couple of weeks of working with him.  One day Pete looked like he was limping.  When we asked him what happened, he said “12 years of playing football has finally caught up to me” [sic]

In the first or second week of June, Pete showed up to our weekly Tuesday manager meeting wearing a knee brace and crutches.  He had just had a 3-day weekend off of work, with the exception of having to come in and work on a paperwork issue for an hour or so.  Of course, we asked Pete about what happened to cause him to have to wear a knee brace, and he told the other managers that he would be OK, that he could work through the pain, especially with the aid of crutches and the brace.  He made no mention about falling at work, or having any kind of accident on the job, other than just being on his feet more than usual. . . . .


Andre Thome also provided an unsworn written statement.  Mr. Thome’s statement is undated.  It contains substantially the same information presented in his affidavit dated December 9, 2002 and submitted at hearing.
The employee was released to return to work and full activities August 28, 2002.  The employee subsequently was treated for hip pain.  However, the hip condition is not part of this claim.  

2.  Summary of  Medical Evidence.

a.  Prior Workers’ Compensation Claim.


The employee had a prior on-the-job injury at an earlier job. On August 31, 2001, John Shannon, D.C., treated the employee for low back pain.  The employee injured himself when the chair he was sitting on slipped out from underneath him and he landed directly on his buttocks.  During an examination, Dr. Shannon noted “Extension was extremely painful and made the patient’s knees buckle.”  (9/13/01 Narrative report by Dr. Shannon).  The employee filed a ROI identifying the injury as a work-related injury.  The employee was discharged from Dr. Shannon’s care on September 28, 2001.  


b.  Current Workers’ Compensation Claim.

On Sunday, May 26, 2002, at 6:34 p.m. the employee arrived at the Providence Alaska Medical Center (PAMC) emergency room complaining of a right knee injury.  On the PMAC emergency room note, under “History of Present Illness,” it is reported that the employee:

was out at 3 o’clock this morning walking and somehow his right knee gave out and he has been really unable to get around on the knee since then because of the pain. . . He has been having some pain in his knee for the last month but no known acute injury.  He has not had any other pain.

(5/26/02 PAMC emergency room note). The right knee was x-rayed.  The x-ray revealed no fractures or dislocation.  The radiologist, David A. Moeller, M.D., found evidence of joint effusion or swelling.  Frank H. Moore, M.D., the PAMC emergency room physician who treated the employee, concluded the employee had an acute right knee injury and referred the employee to John T. Duddy, M.D., for follow up.  Id. 


Dr. Duddy examined the employee on June 3, 2002.  The employee complained of right knee problems resulting from a fall on June 2, 2002.  (6/3/02 Employee Completed Health History).  The employee did not check “work accident” as a cause of the injury.  Id.  Rather, he wrote in “Fall” next to “other.”   Id.  The employee identified the date of injury as June 2, 2002. He indicated he injured himself when he was “walking and knee collapsed.”  Id.  He indicated that his past medical history included an orbital fracture, removal of a cyst from knee, and various broken bones. Id. 


In his initial evaluation of the employee, Dr. Duddy notes under history of present illness that the employee explained:

He was out walking a little over a week ago in the middle of the night.  He had no particular injury, no twisting and no falling.  He just suddenly developed a very sharp pain in the medial aspect of his right knee that caused him to collapse to the street.  He was unable to get back up bearing weight on his other foot and hop [sic] along until he happened to catch a taxi that was able to take him home.  The pain was severe enough through the night that he went in to the emergency room the next day.  He had considerable swelling.  He was given a knee immobilizer, crutches and some Vicodin and has been taking it pretty easy through the week; however, the pain continues.  Swelling is down to about one – third of what it was initially, and he feels pain on almost any movement of his knee.  He states he did have a cyst removed from one of his knees as a child.  He cannot recall which one.

(Dr. Duddy 6/3/02 Initial Evaluation at 1).  Dr. Duddy ordered an MRI
 of the employee’s right knee. 


The MRI revealed continued swelling of the knee and contusions of the medial and lateral femoral condyle and medical tibial plateau without evidence of a fracture.  It did not reveal evidence of internal derangement.  (John J. Kottra, M.D., 6/4/02 Radiology Consultation).  Dr. Duddy continued with conservative treatment until June 17, 2002, when he raised the option of arthroscopic knee surgery.  (Dr. Duddy 6/3/02 thru 7/3/02 Chart Notes).  The surgery was scheduled for June 28, 2002.  It was postponed at the surgeon’s request and rescheduled for July 5, 2002.  The employee was admitted to PAMC on July 3, 2002.  Dr. Duddy noted in the employee’s admission history and physical that the employee:

Injured his knee in 05/02.  He had no particular specific injury, no twisting, no falling.  He developed sharp pain in the medial aspect of his right knee that caused him to collapse in the street.  He underwent an MRI which did not demonstrate internal derangement, however he did have a significant effusion.  He has persistent pain.  He has been unable to work since that time.

(Dr. Duddy 7/3/02 History and Physical).

 
On July 5, 2002, Dr. Duddy performed a right knee arthrosopic surgery with debridement.  The surgery was uneventful and resulted in a postoperative diagnosis of right knee fat pad fibrosis.  (Dr. Duddy 7/5/02 PAMC Procedure Report).  The employee had an uneventful recovery. Dr. Duddy declared the employee medically stable on August 28, 2002 and released him to work and full activities.  (Dr. Duddy 7/17/02 and 8/28/02 Chart Notes).    


On October 23, 2002, the employee returned to Dr. Duddy complaining of a “new pain in the groin that radiates to the thigh.”  (Dr. Duddy 10/28/02 Chart Note). Dr. Duddy ordered another MRI, which was inconclusive.  Dr. Duddy referred the employee to Seattle for further evaluation.  (Dr. Duddy 10/30/02 Chart Note).  A month later he traveled to the University of Washington Medical Center for a right femoral biopsy. The pathology ruled out malignancy and was non-diagnostic. (11/26/02 Seattle Cancer Care Alliance Chart Note). The employee was diagnosed with a stress fracture.  Id.  The stress fracture is not part of the claim before the Board at this time.

3.  Witness Testimony.


The employee called eight (8) witnesses, including himself, to testify on his behalf.  The employee testified both in person and by deposition.  The employee’s remaining witnesses testified either telephonically or in person.  Several unsuccessful attempts were made to contact additional employee witnesses throughout the course of the hearing. The employer had five (5) witnesses testify on its behalf.  One witness testified by affidavit and the other 4 testified either telephonically or in person.


The employer objected to the employee’s witnesses because he did not timely file his witness list and because the employee intended to call witnesses not on his witness list. The employee provided the employer with a copy of his witness list 5 calendar days before hearing, not five business days as required by regulation.  The employer argued that it did not have adequate time to interview the employee’s witnesses. The Board informed the employer that if necessary, the record would remain open to provide the employer with an opportunity to depose the employee’s witnesses. Upon conclusion of the hearing, the employer stated he would not require an opportunity to depose the employee’s witnesses. 

a.  Employer Witnesses


The employer submitted the affidavit of Andre Thome in support of its case.  The employer presented Mr. Thome’s testimony by affidavit because he was unavailable to  testify in person or telephonically. 


Mr. Thome affied that he is an employee of Brinker International, Inc.  Which is the franchiser for the employer.  He oversees the operations of Chili’s franchise restaurants.  He affied that on June 27, 2002 he saw the employee at work in a knee brace. When Mr. Thome inquired, the employee told him that he was having surgery, that it was no big deal, and that the employee has had problems with his knees from playing football going back to his days at Cornell. (12/9/02 Thome Affidavit at 2).  At no time did the employee mention his injury was work-related.  Id.

Tim Crist testified telephonically.  Mr. Crist also works for Brinker International.  He first met the employee while the employee was training in Colorado.  During that time he saw the employee almost daily and worked with him 90 percent of the time.


Mr. Crist testified that about halfway through the employee’s training, the employee went back to Anchorage for a short visit. When the employee returned to training, Mr. Crist noticed the employee was walking with limp.  He asked the employee what happened and the employee responded that he had blown out his knee snowboarding and would have the knee looked at and operated on at a later date.   Mr. Crist also recalled that after that, the employee continued to limp and favor his knee for the rest of the training program.  Mr. Crist observed that some days the employee’s knee seemed to hurt worse than others, however, he could not recall which leg the employee was limping on and favoring.


Jason Kimmel, General Manager and one of the owners of the employer, also testified.  He was involved in the decision to hire the employee and oversaw the employee’s daily performance.  Mr. Kimmel recalled the employee’s first interview and stated that one of the reasons the employee was hired was because of his experience in the restaurant industry.   He also remembered the employee talking about his football playing days and that the employee explained that he had stopped playing football because he hurt his body.  


Mr. Kimmel testified that after the employee returned from training in Colorado and before the restaurant opened, the management team took care of a lot of tasks, one of which included moving administrative supplies from trailers to the building.  Mr. Kimmel stated that the employee did the least amount of the unloading of all the managers.   He testified that one day, while unloading one of the trailers, he noticed that the employee was “gimpy.” Mr. Kimmel asked the employee what happened, and the employee responded that 12 years of football had finally caught up to him.  Mr. Kimmel explained that he understood the employee to be saying that it was a football injury, which caused his knee problem.  Mr. Kimmel remembers that more than one person asked the employee what happened and that at no time did the employee indicate that he had been injured on the job and that he would work through the pain.  Mr. Kimmel testified that it was only after the employee filed his ROI, that he became aware of the employee’s allegation that his injury was work-related.  


When questioned about the employer’s policy for on the job injuries, Mr. Kimmel responded that any falls should be documented and made note of in the mangers’ logbook.  Additionally, he testified that he would have expected a manager to fill out the proper reporting paperwork regardless of whether he had been told to do so or not. 


In response to Board inquiry, Mr. Kimmel described the employer’s bonus structure and incentives for a good safety record.  He could not recall if there was a posting at work telling employees what to do should they observe or suffer a work-related injury.  Finally, he testified that the employer’s policies had been revised several times and the employee may not have the most recent policy.


John Dehaven, another owner of the employer, also testified.  He is the employer’s Director of Operations. Mr. Dehaven was also present at the employee’s first interview.  He recalled the employee talked about football injuries at the interview.  However, he did not recall the employee identifying a specific type of injury.  At a follow-up job interview, Mr. Dehaven recalled the employee inquiring when the health insurance would be effective because he needed surgery on his knee.  Mr. Dehaven testified that the conversation regarding insurance took place before the employee left for Colorado.


Mr. Dehaven stated that when the employee returned from training, he observed that the employee was favoring one of his legs and limping.   He also testified that the employee inquired, at different times upon his return, when health insurance would be effective.



The first time Mr. Dehaven knew the employee had injured his knee was at the May 28, 2002 managers’ meeting.  When he asked the employee what happened, Mr. Dehaven testified that the employee told him that the knee finally gave out.  Mr. Dehaven emphasized that the employee never indicated that the injury was work-related.


Mr. Dehaven did recall the employee slipping and falling in the bar entry.  He testified that he went over to the employee and asked if he was all right.  The employee responded that he was.  Mr. Dehaven described how the employee looked like he was in pain but that the employee walked away.  Mr. Dehaven could not recall if the employee was using crutches at the time of the fall.  He stated that the employee would uses crutches on and off at work but that it was never consistent. 


Mr. Dehaven denied that he told the employee not to file his claim or that he had  ever discussed insurance and filing a claim for the knee injury.  (C.f. Deposition of Peter Burns p. 104).  When the employee was terminated, he did not know that the employee had surgery scheduled.  However, Mr. Dehaven does recall telling the employee that his insurance was in effect until the end of July.


Regarding the employer’s policy on reporting work-related injuries, Mr. Dehaven testified that it is the employer’s policy to follow up if a work related injury occurs.  He also testified that any fall should be in the managers’ logbook.  The logbook contains no mention of a fall by the employee.


Pete McGlashen also testified on behalf of the employer.  Mr. McGlashen  worked with the employee as manager for the employer.   Prior to the restaurant opening, the employee would provide Mr. McGlashen with transportation to and from work.  Once it opened, they worked different shifts and did not see each other as much. Mr. McGlashen recalled the employee talking about his knee problem and explaining that his knee was bothering him from an old football injury.  Mr. McGlashen testified that at another time the employee attributed his knee injury to a snowboarding accident.  He also testified that the employee was anxious for insurance to start because the employee told him he could not hold off anymore on his knee surgery.


Mr. McGlashen was unaware that the employee had ever slipped and fallen at work.  He does recall that at the May 28, 2002 managers’ m36eeting, the employee was using crutches.  He further described that there was no mention of how the injury occurred nor was there a discussion regarding where or how the employee injured himself.  


Additionally, as a manager, Mr. McGlashen explained that it was the employee’s responsibility to document every injury, even if it was to himself, in the logbook. Finally, Mr. McGlashen testified that he has never been told by the employer not to file a claim or not to report an injury.

b.  Employee Witnesses

The employee testified both in person and by deposition. The employer hired the employee January 2002.  Prior to his employment with the employer, the employee was working and covered by health insurance.  As part of the employment offer, the employer was to provide health insurance.  Although the employee was in an employer paid and required training program in Colorado from February 1, 2002 through April 2002, the employer did not provide health insurance coverage until July 1, 2002.  We take administrative notice of our agency’s computer records that the employer’s Worker’s Compensation coverage commenced May 1, 2002.  The employee testified that while training in Colorado, he returned to Anchorage twice.  Both times for personal reasons.  The employee denies that he went snowboarding when he visited Anchorage. He also denies that his knee was injured before working for the employer.


The employee testified regarding his injury. He testified that his knee started to bug him when he was unloading trailers for the employer. However, it did not incapacitate him so he ignored it. 


He explained that he fell a total of four (4) different times.  The first fall occurred as he was leaving work on Saturday night, the last weekend in May.  He explained that he was leaving through the back of the restaurant when he stepped off the curb and his knee collapsed. He recalled that he fell forward to his knee and was in a great deal of pain.  He cannot recall the exact time he fell. There were no witnesses to this initial fall.  He stated that the back of the restaurant was dark, there was greased on the ground, and no window in the back door. He explained that he got himself up and drove his car home.  His car has a manual transmission.


The next day was the employee’s regular day off.  Rather than seek medical attention, he testified that he wanted to just rest his knee and see if it would get better.  The evening of Sunday, May 26, 2002 the pain was unbearable and he had his downstairs neighbor take him to the emergency room.  The emergency room doctor referred the employee to Dr. Duddy.   When he returned to work Tuesday morning the employee was using crutches and a knee brace.  The employee asserts that it was at this time that Mr. Dehaven asked what happened, the employee told him how it happened, and Mr. Dehaven told the employee to let the insurance take care of it.  The employee testified that he took this to mean he should let his health insurance take care of the bills and not file a Workers’ Compensation report.  
The employee further expalined that because of the tenuous nature of his relationship with Mr. Dehaven, he thought it best to do as he was told.


The employee continued working with no time off.  He testified that the pain pills were affecting his personality and he could not be out on the floor as much because he needed to sit down to rest his knee.



He denied the employer’s allegation that the employee had admitted to others that his knee condition was caused by a pre-existing injury and not work-related. He denies having any pre-existing knee injury. (Burns Testimony and Deposition at 71).    The employee explained that the employer's witnesses misconstrued what he had said. The employee recalled telling people that at times he felt like he had injured every part of his body but his knees.  (Burns Depo. at 69-70). He reasoned that this is what people heard him say, not that he injured his knee while playing college football. He emphasized that his medical records contain no mention of any knee pain, injuries, or problems.  He testified that he is “one of the few people that got through college football without injuring my knees.” Id. at 70.


Additionally, he asserts that he had medical insurance from February 1996 through February 2002.  The employee testified that because he has always had medical insurance, if he did have a pre-existing condition, there was no reason he would not have sought treatment.


Regarding the employer’s knowledge of the employee’s falls at the workplace and employer policies on reporting workplace injuries, the employee testified that John Dehaven, operations director for the employer, was present for one of the falls.  The employee also testified that Mr. Dehaven assisted him into the office after a fall. However, because Mr. Dehaven told the employee he did not want to file the claim on the employer’s workers’ compensation insurance, he did not file with workers compensation.


On cross-examination by the employer, the employee acknowledged that the employer was still open when he first injured his knee.  Rather than go back inside and get help, the employee chose to drive himself home. The employer noted many inconsistencies between the employee's testimony at hearing, his deposition, and initial interview.  The employee admitted that his testimony was contradictory in several places and attributed it to the pain medication he was taking at the time and that he and the employer had different definitions for the same word. Therefore, the employee testified, when he was asked a question, he answered it according to the meaning he gave the word, not the employer’s definition.


Also, on cross-examination the employer asked the employee why he did not put anything in the managers’ logbook documenting his fall.  The employee responded that while managers were supposed to regularly update the logbook, it was not always filled out.  The employee stated that he did not note anything in the logbook because there were witnesses to his 3 subsequent falls, including managers and owners of the business.  Also, Mr. Dehaven had told the employee not to report his injury.


The employee disputed Mr. Kimmel’s testimony regarding the existence of any employer rules and policies on reporting injuries. (Employee Ex. EE-1). The employee acknowledged that there was a managers’ logbook where the manager was to log business statistics, ordering needs, things that needed to be addressed, anything out of the ordinary, and workplace injuries.  However, the employee testified that what went into the logbook was dependent upon who was working that particular day.   


Regarding the late-filed ROI, the employee explained that he had been terminated the morning of July 2, 2002.  That morning he went to the unemployment insurance office where they instructed the employee to file at Workers’ Compensation because he was injured.  The employee put down July 2, 2002 as the date of injury or last exposure because he had slipped and fallen on several occasions and did not know what date to fill in.  The employee said he did not sign and file the ROI until July 8, 2002 because he had not yet talked with Dr. Duddy and did not know what he was going to say regarding the employee's physical condition.


The employee also presented the testimony of several individuals who had worked with him over the years and with whom he kept in touch.  All testified that they had never observed the employee with a knee injury, never heard him mention that his knees were compromised as a result of football, and upon his return from training, did not observe him limping or favoring his leg.  (Testimony of Lisa Fletcher, Marisa Novelli, and Tammy Riddle).  


Paris Duffus, a friend from college, testified for the employee. When they were in college, he saw the employee every day.  Mr. Duffus testified that in the 12 -14 years he and the employee have known each other, he has never witnessed the employee with a knee injury.  Nor has he observed the employee using any crutches, knee brace, etc.  He explained that the nature of their relationship was such that if the employee had a problem with his knee, they would have discussed it.


Mr. Duffus last saw the employee in March 2002 in Colorado Springs.  They had dinner together.  At no time did the employee mention his knee was bothering him. 


James Fay, for the past 2 ½ years has lived downstairs from the employee.  He testified that he has known the employee for the past six years.  Mr. Fay is the employee's roommate's father. He testified that he saw the employee on a regular basis, sometimes up to three times in one day.  Mr. Fay's son owns the house and the employee pays his son rent.  


Mr. Fay testified that, until the employee's injury, he had never seen the employee on crutches. The first time he was aware that the employee had a knee problem was that weekend in May when the employee came home from work and they both pulled into the driveway at the same time. Mr. Fay noticed the employee having difficulty walking.  When he asked the employee what happened, Mr. Fay testified that the employee told him that “he fell at work.”  Mr. Fay could not identify the exact time he and the employee arrived home.   He thought it was in the evening, but he could not be certain.  He did recall that it was light out.   Mr. Fay stated that he was usually up by 5 A.M. and went to bed around 10 or 11 P.M.  It was Mr. Fay who took the employee to the emergency room on May 26, 2002.  However, he could not recall if he took the employee home from the emergency room.  


Mr. Fay also testified that he saw the employee when he came back from Colorado for a visit in late February 2002. He did not recall the employee limping or going snowboarding that weekend.  Finally, Mr. Fay testified that rather than snowboarding, he would expect that the employee would spend his time at home as he normally did, watching TV.


James Dreeszen testified regarding the employee’s June 16, 2002 fall and the employer’s training/policy regarding the reporting of work-related injuries. Mr. Dreeszen started working for the employer on April 13, 2002.  Prior to that time he did not know the employee. Mr. Dreeszen stated that the first time he saw the employee limping or using crutches was the end of May.


He also testified that although he could not recall the exact date, he believes the employee fell on June 16 or 17, 2002.  Mr. Dreeszen recalled that the fall occurred after the employer was closed.  He observed that the employee acted as if he were in a lot of pain as he got up and limped away.  He also recalled someone helping the employee up, but he could not recall whom.  Nor could he recall whether the employee was using crutches or wearing a knee brace at the time.


In response to Board inquiry, Mr. Dreeszen testified that he did not receive training on any employer policy regarding the reporting of injuries.  However, he explained that if a customer were injured, he would report it to management.  Similarly, if it were another employee he would also report it to management.  However, this was a manger that had fallen and hurt himself.  Mr. Dreeszen thought the employee would report it since he was a manager. 


On redirect, Mr. Dreeszen testified that as time went on he thought the employee sat down more at work and seemed to get worse.  Mr. Dreeszen recalled that he and Mr. Dehaven discussed the employee’s June 16 or 17, 2002 fall.  He testified that he asked Mr. Dehaven if the employee was okay and Mr. Dehaven responded “yah, he’ll be okay.”   Finally, Mr Dreeszen confirmed that he remembered Mr. Dehaven was in the restaurant when the employee fell, but could not testify whether or not Mr. Dehaven saw the employee fall.


Tammy Riddle testified for the employee on rebuttal.  Ms. Riddle testified that she worked with the employee from the date the employer opened for business until mid-July.  She recalls seeing the employee on crutches during that time..  She did not witness the falls, but remembers being told the employee fell.  She observed that the employee was uncomfortable at work after May 28, 2002.  Finally, Ms. Riddle testified that she has no firsthand knowledge of anyone being injured on the job at the employer and being told not to file a Workers’ Compensation claim.

4.  Employee’s Argument

The employee argues that he suffered 4 injuries/falls while in the employ of the employer: 

· The evening May 25/Morning May 26, 2002 at the back of restaurant in the parking lot/alley.

· The afternoon of June 1, 2002 inside the restaurant near the hallway to restroom.

· In the early afternoon June 7, 2002 at the corner of table 33 and 23.

· The night of June 15 (might have been June 16), 2002 at the entryway to bar area.


The employee argues that because he was unable to cross-examine Ellen Suthphin and Andre Thome, the Board should not consider their statements. The employee argues that because he had continuous health care coverage up through February 2002, he would have sought treatment if he did have a problem with his knee prior to working for the employer. 


The employee maintains that he Board should give more weight to the employee’s witnesses because of the length of time the employee’s witnesses have known him, and because they have had an opportunity to observe the employee in different circumstances. Conversely, the employer’s witnesses have observed the employee on an intermittent basis for no more than three months.


Additionally, the employee disputes the employer’s testimony regarding the employer’s commitment to safety and worker’s compensation.  It is the employee’s position that the employer did not timely file prescribed worker’s compensation paperwork.  Nor did the employer timely provide worker’s compensation coverage.  The employee argues that this lack of coverage was common practice for one of the employers and supports a finding that the employer has an established lack of concern for its employee’s safety.    

5.  Employer’s Argument


The employer argues that the employee’s claim is time-barred under AS 23.30.100. The employer argues that it was unaware that the employee’s injury was work-related. The employer asserts it  prejudiced by the  untimely filing because it was deprived of the opportunity to investigate the condition of the parking lot area and was unable to pursue possible witnesses.  The employer also argues that the employee’s injury is due to a pre-existing condition and is not work-related.  
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


1.  AS 23.30.100


AS 23.30.100 provides in pertinent part:

(a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and the employer…

(d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter  

(1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice; …


The employer argues that the employee’s claim is time-barred because the employee did not file his ROI by June 25, 2002.  The employer further argues that the employee may not proceed forward with his claim under AS 23.30.100(d)(1) because the employee did not notify the employer that his injury was work-related and the employer is prejudiced by the employee’s failure to give notice.  The Board rejects the employer’s arguments and concludes that the employee’s claim is not time-barred under AS 23.30.100(d)(1).


First, we find the employer admits it knew the employee was injured when he came to the managers’ meeting the morning of May 28, 2002 on crutches and in a leg brace.
  We also find that the employer had knowledge of at least one subsequent fall. Therefore, the employer knew of the employee’s injury. We find the employer’s focus on whether the employer knew that the injury was work-related, is contrary to controlling law and therefore fails.  Kolkman v. Greeens Creek Mining Co., 936 P.2d 150 (Alaska 1997).


In Kolkman, the Court applied AS 23.30.100(d)(1) and found that failure to give timely notice will not bar benefits to the employee where 1) the employer has knowledge of the injury and 2) the employer has not been prejudiced by the untimely notice.   The Court specifically rejected the notion that the employer must have knowledge of the work-relatedness of the injury.  Id. at note 1 (disapproving State v. Moore, 706 P.2d 311 (Alaska 1985), “to the extent that it may be read to require that an employer have knowledge that the employee’s injury is work-related to satisfy the exception of AS 23.30.100(d)(1)”).


The employer argues that the employee’s untimely notice was prejudicial because it deprived the employer of the opportunity to timely investigate the employee’s claim.  Prejudice to the employer occurs if untimely notice impedes the employer’s ability to provide immediate medical diagnosis and treatment to minimize the seriousness of the injury or if it impedes the employers ability to investigate the facts surrounding the injury.  Defermo v. Municipality of Anchorage, 941 P.2d 114 (Alaska 1997).  If the employee’s first injury was on May 25, 2002, he only filed his claim 14 days late. This is not a medically complex case.  Admittedly, there were no witnesses to this fall.  Hence no one to interview. The employer is in control of the premises and would know what if any repair work was done to the area in question.  We do not find, under these facts and circumstances, that the employer was prejudiced by the employee’s 14 day late filing. The employee alleges he fell three more times. If the employee fell on June 2, 2002, the filing would be a week late.  Mr. Dehaven, one of the owners of the employer, admits that he witnessed the employee’s June 15 fall.   As to the employee’s June 7 and June 15 falls, the employee timely filed.  The Board concludes, under the specific facts of this case, that the employee’s claim is not barred pursuant to AS 23.30.100(d)(1). 

2.  Compensability.


“In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.”  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).  The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a pre-existing condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  DeYonge v. Nana/Marriott, 3 P.2d  90 (Alaska 2000); Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  Furthermore, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.  Id. at 316. The presumption can also attach with a work-related aggravation/acceleration context without a specific event.  Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  


Application of the presumption is a three-step process.  Gillispie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994).  An employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed conditions has been attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.  Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989);  Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  The claimed condition is then compensable if the work is a substantial factor in bringing it about.  Burgess, 623 P.2d at 317.  The work is a substantial factor if: (1) the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).  


Once the presumption attaches, the employer must then rebut it by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Substantial evidence is “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.”  Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 n.1 (Alaska 1991). In DeYonge, the court explained that there are two possible ways to overcome the presumption:  (1) produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence used to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.  Wolfer, at 869.  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee’s claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).


If the presumption is rebutted, the employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor, which brings about the condition or aggravates a pre-existing ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  “Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [trier’s of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true.”  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 


The employer argues the employee has not provided medical evidence that his work at the employer’s is responsible for his knee injury. Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 870 (Alaska 1985). Therefore, the employer urges the Board to find that the presumption of compensability does not attach to the employee’s claim. Unfortunately, the record in this case contains no medical report stating an opinion about whether the employee’s claim is or is not work-related. We must rely solely on lay testimony to establish a presumption of compensability, to overcome the presumption of compensability and to determine the merits of the claim by a preponderance of the evidence.


Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim, we first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find the employee’s claim does not involve complicated medical facts.  He claims he fell at work and his fall caused him pain and swelling in his knee which required medical attention.  We find the injury reported is the probable result of falling on one’s knee as described by the employee. For the presumption to attach the employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence, Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987), establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment, Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316, (Alaska 1981), or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.  Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991).


The employee denies that he had a preexisting injury prior to working for the employer.  He argues that prior the fall on May 25/26, 2002, he had never injured his knee.  He argues that he fell three additional times after May 25/26, 2002.  It is undisputed that the employee came to work on May 28, 2002 wearing a knee brace and using crutches. Additionally, we find Mr. Dehaven observed the employee’s June 15, 2002 fall.  


We do not assess the credibility of the employee or any witnesses at this step of our inquiry. We find that because we do not weigh the credibility of the witnesses or view the evidence as a whole at this step, we are compelled to attach the presumption of compensability to the employee’s claim.  


Having found the presumption attaches to the employee’s claim, we now determine whether the employer has rebutted the presumption of compensability.  At this step we again view the evidence in isolation.  We do not weigh credibility of the witnesses or assign weight to the evidence.  At this step we determine whether the record contains evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support the conclusion that the employee’s knee injury did not occur within the course and scope of his employment, or that work did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with a pre-existing condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment. Two factors determine whether expert medical evidence is necessary to overcome presumption of compensability: the probative value of available lay evidence and the complexity of medical facts involved.  Veco, Inc., 693 P.2d 865, 871.  


The employer argues that the employee had a pre-existing condition, which caused his injury.  Therefore, the injury is not work-related.  We must look at this evidence in isolation and not the record as a whole. Here, although we find that the employee’s injury is not medically complex and his testimony probative.  Under these facts, we find the evidence required for the employer’s rebuttal is medically complex.  In this case and the record before us, we do not find the employer’s lay evidence probative on the medical question of whether the employee’s claimed injury was or was not pre-existing. Therefore the employer needs to present medical evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.  Id.  There are two ways to overcome the presumption of compensability, by eliminating all possibilities that the injury was work-connected or produce an alternative explanation that would exclude work as a cause.  


The employer argues that because the medical records contain no mention of falls at work, this is substantial evidence that the employee’s injury is not work related.   Looking at the medical reports in isolation, we find that the treating physician describes the circumstances surrounding the injury as the employee walking down the street at 3:00 a.m.  Dr. Duddy, a week later notes a similar explanation for the employee’s injury.   We do not find these reports eliminate all possibility that the employee’s injury was work-related or produce an alternative explanation that would exclude work as a cause. 


Because we must consider the elimination of all possibilities that the injury is work-related or whether there is an alternative explanation for the injury, we find it appropriate to consider whether the evidence presented by the employer is compatible with the employee’s version of how he was injured.  We find that the description of how the employee was injured in the medical records is not mutually exclusive of the employee’s explanation.  We find that they are reasonably compatible.  Accordingly, we conclude the employer has not presented substantial evidence that the employee’s injury is not work-related.


The employer also relies upon the absence of any notation in the Managers’ logbook as substantial evidence that the employee’s injury is not work-related.  The evidence upon which the employer relies is hearsay.  While the technical rules of evidence do not apply in our proceedings, hearsay evidence is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.  8 AAC 45.120(e).


We find that this hearsay evidence would not be admissible in a civil action.  The Alaska Rules of Evidence (AkRE) provide that the absence of a record can be an exception to the hearsay rule and may be relied upon to prove the nonoccurrence or nonexistence of a fact under limited circumstances.  AkRE 803(7).  For the absence of a record to have the requisite guarantee of trustworthiness, the proponent of the record must first establish that the evidence could have been admitted under AkRE 803(6), the business records exception to the hearsay rule. We find that the managers’ logbook is hearsay.  We have reviewed the Managers’’ logbook and note discrepancies in reporting practices. Because of this lack of consistency we find the evidence does not have the requisite guaranty of trustworthiness.   Nor do we find the employer’s testimony regarding what “should” be reported in the log book sufficient to establish it as a business record and thus an exception to the prohibition on hearsay. Therefore, we may not rely upon the absence of a record of any of the employee’s falls as sufficient to support a finding of fact.  Accordingly, we find the employer has not presented the Board with substantial evidence.  


Had the employer presented substantial evidence that the employee had a pre-existing injury, we could not disregard the possibility that the employee’s work for the employer aggravated, accelerated or combined with a pre-existing condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  DeYonge, supra.  The employer presented no explanation for the employee’s continuing condition.  We find that when the employee first received treatment for his injury, Dr. Duddy thought a conservative treatment would work.  However, as time progressed, surgery was required.  Additionally, we find the testimony of Mr. Dreeszen that the employee got worse as time went on compelling.  Therefore, we find this evidence sufficient to reaffirm the presumption of compensability.  We find that the employer has failed to rebut this presumption by substantial evidence. 


Alternatively, if we had found the employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability, we would proceed to third step, and look at the record as a whole and weigh the evidence presented.  We would also assess the credibility of the witnesses. At this step the employee must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his work was a substantial factor in bringing about his condition or that it aggravated a pre-existing ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  “Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [trier’s of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true.”  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).   


Had we reached this step, based upon our observations of the employee’s demeanor during the hearing and his conflicting testimony, we would likely find the employee not credible and would give his testimony little weight. However, because the employer failed to rebut the presumption, we do not reach this step in our analysis.  Nor is it necessary for us to address the employee’s objection’s based on the inability to cross-examine a witness.


The Board concludes, based on the evidence before us and the law which we apply, that the employee is entitled to workers’ compensation benefits under AS 23.30 et. sec., including TTD benefits from July 2, 2002 through his date of medical stability, August 28, 2002. 

3. AS 23.30.155

AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer. . .
(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death. On this date all co
(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation then due shall be paid. . . .the right to compensation the employer shall file  . . a notice of controversion on or before the 21st  day after the employer has knowledge 

 (e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

(o) The board shall promptly notify the division of insurance if the board determines that the employer's insurer has frivolously or unfairly controverted compensation due under this chapter. After receiving notice from the board, the division of insurance shall determine if the insurer has committed an unfair claim settlement practice under AS 21.36.125.


On August 23, 2002 the employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim dated August 20, 2002 seeking all benefits for a right knee injury.  The employee claims that “on 3 separate occasions I slipped and fell at work due to wet floor conditions.  Subsequent damage as a result of falls resulted in surgery to repair knee . . . .” (7/8/02 ROI).  The claim was served on the employer on September 23, 2002.  The employer doubted the validity of the employee’s injury because the employer believed the injury to be preexisting and not related to work.  Id.  


The employer controverted all benefits relying upon statements from the employee’s co-workers which state the employee attributed his right knee problems to prior injuries from playing football. (8/18/02 Controversion Notice).  In support of its controversion, the employer provided two written statements asserting that the employee stated that his injury was attributable to a pre-existing injury. 

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992) that an employer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:  

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty. . . . For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

Id. at 358.  We have applied the court's reasoning from Harp, and we find the employer’s controversion to be supported by substantial evidence under AS 23.30.155(b).  Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992).   Therefore, we find it is not an unfair or frivolous controversion.  However, the employer did not file its controversion until 26 days after the claim was served.   Therefore, we are required by law to award the employee a penalty equal to 25% of those TTD benefit installments not timely controverted. AS 23.30.155(e). 

Additionally, the employer has not paid the employee any TTD benefits. 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at the statutory rate from the date at which each installment of compensation is due.  See Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp, 831 P.2d at 358; Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).  Therefore, we find the employer is obligated to pay interest on the employee’s past due TTD benefits.  

Regarding the employee’s claim for medical benefits, medical benefits are considered compensation for the purpose of AS 23.30.155.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Assn., 860 P.2d 1184, 1192 (Alaska 1993).   The employer is required to pay the employee’s medical expenses within 30 days after the date on which the employer receives the bill and a complete medical report. 8 AAC 45.082(d). We find the employee has presented no evidence that the employer has received the bill and a complete medical report. Accordingly, the employee’s claim for interest and penalties on unpaid medical benefits is denied.  

Regarding the employee’s claim for travel expenses, we find the employee has failed to present any expenses in support of this claim. Accordingly, we conclude the employee’s claim for interest and penalties on unpaid medical benefits is denied.
ORDER

1. The employee ‘s injury is work-related.

2. The employee’s claim is not time-barred under AS 23.30.100(d)(1).

3. The employer did not frivolously and unfairly controvert the employee’s claim.
4. The employee is awarded a penalty on late paid benefits. AS2 3.30.155(e). 

5. The employee is awarded interest on any untimely benefits. 8 AAC 45.142

6.  The employee’s claim for interest and penalties on medical and travel expenses is denied.

A concurring opinion by Board Member Philip E. Ulmer is forthcoming.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 6th day of March, 2003.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 


If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES


This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION


A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION


Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of PETER H. BURNS employee / applicant; v. CHILI’S GRILL & BAR, employer; ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO. - A, insurer / defendants; Case No. 200214246; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 6th day of March, 2003.

                             

   _________________________________

      




Shirley A. DeBose, Clerk
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� Mr. Kimmel is a partner in Duke Investments, LLC d/b/a Chili’s Grill & Bar.


� Magnetic Resonance Image.


� Mr. Dehaven and Mr. Kimmel, both part owners of the employer, admit that they knew the employee had injured his knee when he came to work on Tuesday May 28, 2002.
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